1 ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

2 (1) The order by the Superior Court granting summary judgment to 

3 Pugh that Haley's recorded easement on Pugh's property is terminated and 

4 denying Haley's cross motion to dismiss Pugh's claim for termination of the 

5 easement. 

6 (2) The order by the Superior COUli granting summary judgment to 

7 Defendant Pugh dismissing Plaintiff Haley's claim that Pugh's boat lift is in 

8 an illegal location and must be removed. 

9 Except that both issues involve adjoining properties owned by the 

10 same parties, the issues are Ul1felated. Haley presents facts and argument on 

11 the easement issue in Part A below and facts and argument on the boat lift 

12 issue in Part B below. 

13 PART A - EASEMENT ISSUE - INTRODUCTION 

14 In this case, John Pugh is trying to improve his property for his own 

15 benefit by taking easement rights away from his neighbor Haley's property 

16 without paying for them so he can use Haley's easement area for a private 

17 garden. The easement rights add value to Haley's property by preventing 

18 Pugh from building a fence along the property line that would block Haley 

19 from walking in the easement area through the garden, would block Haley's 

20 view of the garden, and would make Haley's property appear and feel 

21 smaller. It also adds value to Haley's propeliy by allowing Haley to use the 

22 easement area for occasional overflow parking. The law allows such 

23 property rights to be taken by a neighbor only in limited circumstances which 

24 do not apply here. 

25 Pugh is trying to retroactively take the easement rights away from the 

26 prior owner of Haley's property, Kathleen Hume, by persuading her to sign a 
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1 declaration saying that she had intentionally abandoned her easement rights 

2 before she sold the property to Haley, even though there was nothing put in 

3 writing at the time suggesting that the easement rights were abandoned and 

4 the warranty deed by which she sold the property to Haley conveyed the 

5 easement rights to Haley. 

6 Pugh is also trying to take the easement rights away from Haley by 

7 adverse possession. However, prior to January 2012, Pugh's actions were not 

8 sufficiently hostile to provide adequate notice. And, even if they were 

9 adequately hostile, Haley commenced this action before the 10 year adverse 

10 possession period had run. 

11 PART A - STATEMENT OF FACTS ON EASEMENT ISSUE 

12 The record shows the following facts. These facts do not support a 

13 summary judgment terminating easement rights. Instead, these facts provide 

14 a basis to dismiss Pugh's claim for termination of easement rights without 

15 further proceedings. 

16 L Haley's residential property, Lot B of a four-lot short plat by the 

17 Wood family, is located on Butterworth Road on Mercer Island. The north 

18 side of Haley's residential property borders Tract A ovvned by John Pugh. 

19 Tract A was established by creation of more than 2110ts in a subdivision 

20 called Dawn Terrace. Tract A is a long and thin extension of the subdivision, 

21 30 feet wide by more than 250 feet long, its length extending from the 

22 subdivision to the shore of Lake Washington. Haley Declaration (first) ~2, 

23 CP 28. 

24 2. An aerial photograph with markings showing the Haley residence, an 

25 outline of Tract A, and an outline of the easement area in dispute was created 
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1 by Pugh and attached to the Bume declaration as Exhibit 2, CP 66. A copy is 

2 attached to this brief for handy reference. 

3 3. Haley's property, Lot B, is the dominant estate in a recorded easement 

4 10 feet wide within Tract A all along the northern boundary of Haley's 

5 property. As stated in the grant document, the easement was granted "in 

6 perpetuity . . . for purposes of utilities . . . pedestrian ingress, egress, and 

7 right-of way . . . and parking of vehicles of visitors to the Dominant Estate." 

8 Paragraph 1 of Exhibit 2 to Declaration of Frank Siderius, CP 185 (emphasis 

9 added). 

10 4. This 10 feet wide easement for the benefit of Haley's Lot B was 

11 created by "dedication"; that is, it was created by lines and words marked on 

12 the recorded plat drawing by which the property was subdivided into four 

13 lots. The plat drawing included a citation to the recording number where the 

14 words of the easement were recorded in the county land records. Exhibit 14 

15 to the Deposition of Hume, CP 105-151 . 

16 5. The same 10 feet wide easement area also provided an easement for 

17 access to the waterfront Lots C and D created by the Wood short plat. When 

18 a new access road across the other 20 feet of Tract A was put in by John 

19 Pugh, who was then the owner of both Lot D and Tract A, Lots C and D 

20 stopped using the 10 feet wide easement. In 2004, Pugh and the owners of 

21 Lot C (Oylers) made an agreement to extinguish their prior easement rights to 

22 the 10 feet wide easement area and replace the easement rights with a new 

23 easement under the new road. Paragraph 6 of Exhibit ] 2 attached to Haley 

24 Third Declaration, CP 100-101 . The document was recorded in King 

25 County. A copy of this Exhibit 12 is attached to this brief for handy 

26 reference. 
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6. No document was created to telminate the easement rights of Lot B to 

the 10 feet wide easement area. No release or cancellation of any aspect Lot 

B's 10 feet wide easement has been recorded in the real estate transfer 

records of King County. Haley Declaration (first) ~3, CP 29 . 

7. Hume did not ever make any changes to the surface of the ground 

within the 10 feet wide easement area. Hume Deposition 18:23 -19:5 . 

Hume did not ever tell others that she wanted to make changes to the surface 

within the easement area. Hurne Deposition 31 :8-11 . 

8. After he completed the new road for Lots C and D which provided no 

10 benefit for Lot B, John Pugh placed in the 10 feet wide easement area the 

11 following obstacle: one mailbox support structure supporting three 

12 mailboxes and many low bushes. In addition to placing the mailboxes, he 

13 dug a ditch for locating a creek and he lined the banks with rocks to prevent 

14 the creek from moving by erosion. Pugh declared under oath that he made 

15 these changes in 2003 and 2004, CP 14. The records of the City of Mercer 

16 Island relating to the easement area agree with these dates. Haley Second 

17 Declaration ~4 , CP 50. This is a minimum of 7 years and 8 months before 

18 the present suit was filed in July 2012 and a maximum of9 years and 6 

19 months before the suit was filed. 

20 9. When Jolm Pugh took out a pipe that formerly contained the creek 

21 and replaced it with an open ditch, this did not render impossible surface use 

22 of the 10 feet wide easement. It did not render impossible use of the 

23 easement for pedestrian purposes. While it did render portions of the 

24 easement unusable by typical motor vehicles for parking or passage, this 

25 could be cured by placement of decking or dirt and a culvert. Haley 

26 Declaration (first) ~7, CP 29. It did not render impossible surface use for 

27 parking vehicles in a 25 by 7 feet area between the upper end of the ditch and 
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1 the paved portion of Butterworth Road, which area is occupied by low 

2 bushes. Haley Second Declaration ~9, CP 51. Neither Haley nor any prior 

3 owner ofms property has used the 7 feet by 25 feet space just described for 

4 parking or has modified this space to be suitable for parking. Haley Second 

5 Declaration '\l10, CP 51. 

6 10. Haley bought Lot B from Hume in 2005. The deed by which Hurne 

7 conveyed the property to Haley is a warranty deed, Exhibit 1 to the 

8 Declaration of Kathleen Hurne, CP 62-64. It expressly references an attached 

9 Exhibit A which, in paragraph 4, incorporates "easements contained in short 

10 plat" recorded March 4, 1980 which is Exhibit 14 to the Deposition of Hurne, 

11 CP 105-151. The short plat drawing, Exhibit 14 to the Hume deposition, 

12 shows the 10 feet easement area and specifies the King County recording 

13 number of the easement grant document. 

14 11. No release or cancellation of any aspect of the 10 feet wide easement 

15 was signed by Haley. Haley Declaration (first) '\13, CP 29. Haley and his 

16 family members make use of the easement area for pedestrian purposes. 

17 Haley Declaration (second) '\l5, CP 50. 

18 12. Until 2012, Jo1m Pugh never said to Haley, either in writing or orally, 

19 that his intentions with respect to Tract A were adverse to Haley's continuing 

20 use of the easement area for pedestrian purposes to walk in the creekside 

21 garden or Haley's future use of the easement area for any purpose stated in 

22 the easement grant document. Haley Declaration (first) '\18, CP 30. 

23 13. To prevent loss of his easement rights by adverse possession, Haley 

24 filed this action in July, 2012, less than 7 months after Pugh first stated his 

25 adversity to Haley' s future use of the easement area. Haley requested a 

26 declaration that the easement rights are intact, CP 4-5, and Pugh filed a 
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1 counterclaim for a declaration that the easement rights were terminated, CP 9. 

2 Pugh then filed a motion for summary judgment on his counterclaim and 

3 Haley filed a cross-motion for partial summary judgment on his claim. CP 

4 299-306. 

5 PART A - ARGUMENTS ON EASEMENT ISSUE 

6 Because this issue was presented to the court below on cross motions 

7 for summary judgment, the Court of Appeals may, if the evidence is clear 

8 enough, either affirm the Superior Court's ruling that the easement is 

9 partially terminated or reverse the Superior Court and rule that the easement 

10 is intact. There is no need to remand for trial unless this court finds a genuine 

11 issue of material fact. 

12 AI. The granting of an environmental land use permit cannot work 

13 a taking of recorded easement rights of neighbors. 

14 Pugh argued below that a land use permit based on satisfaction of 

15 environmental concerns issued by the City of Mercer Island to remove a 

16 culvert and dig a ditch for water to How in worked a tennination of the 

17 easement rights then held by Haley's predecessor, Hume. There is no legal 

18 support for this theory and it would be unconstitutional. 

19 A request for environmental clearance is not in any sense a legal 

20 notice to an easement holder that they must oppose the permit application and 

21 prevail or they will lose easement rights. And, if such an effect were 

22 sanctioned by the law, due process would require that the notice of the 

23 application to modify the land be served on the easement holder like a 

24 subpoena and explicitly state that easement rights will be lost if an easement 

25 holder does not oppose the permit application and prevail. Easement rights 

26 are property rights and cannot be taken without due process under both the 
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1 United States constitution and the state constitution. The notice was not 

2 served like a subpoena and it did not state that easement rights could be lost. 

3 In this case, the digging of the ditch for water is not inconsistent with 

4 use ofthe easement area for pedestrian purposes (which is the primary use 

5 that Haley makes and wishes to continue to make of the easement area) so the 

6 City's environmental permit process could not have given any kind of notice 

7 that granting of the permit would tenninate pedestrian usage rights or allow 

8 Pugh to build a fence that would block Haley's pedestrian access and views 

9 of the garden. 

10 A2. Abandonment and adverse possession law to be applied 

11 The law to be applied is articulated in the cases of Cole v. Laverty, 

12 112 Wn. App. 180,184,49 P.3d 924 (2002) and Heg v. Alldredge, 157 

13 Wn.2d 154, 161, 137 P.3d 9 (2006). The Cole case presents the analysis for a 

14 claim that a recorded easement has been lost by adverse possession 

15 (intentional acts of the servient estate owner). The Heg case presents the 

16 analysis for a claim that a recorded easement has been lost by abandonment 

17 (intentional acts of the dominant estate owner). 

18 The two analyses are different, not merely inverses of each other. In 

19 the abandonment analysis, the focus is on actions of the easement holder that 

20 show intent to abandon the easement. For adverse possession, the focus is on 

21 uninterrupted actions of the servient estate owner that might have given 

22 notice of a hostile intent to adversely take away the easement. 

23 A3. The burden of proof to show hostile intent has not been met. 

24 To prevail, Pugh must show uninterrupted adverse actions that were 

25 clearly hostile. For extinguishment of an easement by adverse possession, 

26 the Cole court stated: 
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"T 0 establish adverse possession, the claimant must show use that 

was open, notorious, continuous, uninterrupted, and adverse to the 

property owner for the prescriptive period of 10 years. RCW 

7.28.010." .... 

"to start the prescriptive period, the adverse use of the easement must 

be clearly hostile to the dominant estate's interest in order to put the 

dominant estate owner on notice." p.184 (emphasis added). . ... 

"Hostile use is difficult to prove. The servient estate owner has the 

right to use his or her land for any purpose that does not interfere with 

enjoyment of the easement. Beebe, 58 Wn. App. at 384. Proper use 

by the servient estate owner is generally a question of fact that 

depends largely on the extent and mode of the use. Thompson v. 

Smith, 59 Wn.2d 397, 408, 367 P.2d 798 (1962). If the dominant 

estate has established use of an easement right of way, obstruction of 

that use clearly interferes with the proper enjoyment of the easement. 

However, if an easement has been created but has not yet been used 

by the dominant estate, adverse use by the servient estate is more 

difficult to prove. See, e.g., Beebe, 58 Wn. App. at 383-84; City of 

Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn. App. 632,636,774 P.2d 1241 (1989)." 

"Mere nonuse, no matter how long, will not extinguish an easement. 

Thompson, 59 Wn.2d at 407. During the period of nonuse, the 

servient estate may use the land subject to the easement in any way 

that does not permanently interfere with the easement's future use. 

Id.; Edmonds, 54 Wn. App. at 636. For example, if an easement has 

been created and no occasion has arisen for its use, the owner ofthe 

servient estate may fence the land and that use will not be considered 

adverse until (1) the need for the right of way arises, (2) the owner of 
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1 the dominant estate demands that the easement be opened, and (3) the 

2 owner of the servient estate refuses to do so. Id. at 636-3 7." 

3 In the Cole case, the fence, locked gates, and bathtub planters blocking the 

4 way did not constitute permanent obstructions that would put Mr. Cole's 

5 predecessors on notice that the servient estate holder was asserting hostile, 

6 exclusive interest over the easement. p.186. 

7 In this case, the dominant estate holder (Haley) did not demand that 

8 the easement be opened until January 2012. And Pugh has not offered any 

9 evidence that a prior owner of Lot B made such a demand. Before January 

10 2012, neither Haley nor a prior owner of his property made any use of the 

11 easement area for parking of vehicles or made any improvements such as 

12 removing bushes to facilitate use of the easement area. 

13 Absent a demand to open the easement, Pugh must show that he put 

14 such obstacles in the way of the easement that no trier of fact could reach a 

15 conclusion other than that the owner of Lot B must have been on notice that 

16 Pugh hostilely intended to take away easement rights. 

17 The only actions Pugh took that might be considered hostile to the 

18 interests of Lot B were digging a ditch, planting low bushes, and building a 

19 mailbox support structure, and none of these were inconsistent with 

20 continuing pedestrian uses. Given the high hurdle set by case law in 

21 Washington, the bushes, ditch, and mailboxes were not enough to put either 

22 Hume or Haley on notice of Pugh's hostile intent. 

23 Thus there is no evidence of hostile adverse possession for any longer 

24 time than six months before suit was filed, when Pugh first stated his hostile 

25 intent in words. 
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1 A4. Tbe time period for extinguishment of 

2 an easement by adverse possession has not been met. 

3 There is another more compelling reason to rule that the easement 

4 was not terminated by adverse possession. According to his own sworn 

5 testimony at paragraph 6 of his declaration, CP 14, Pugh did not place any 

6 obstacles within the easement area until 2003 and 2004, which is less than ten 

7 years before this action was filed. The law in Washington is clear that the 

8 required period of open, notorious, uninterrupted, adverse, and hostile use to 

9 extinguish an easement is 10 years. Cole at 184. 

10 AS. Under the statute of frauds, there is inadequate evidence 

11 from before she sold her property to Haley that Hume 

12 intended to abandon the easement. 

13 For abandonment, the analysis was well summarized with full 

14 citations by judge Marywave Van Deren of Division Two of the Court of 

15 Appeals writing in a 2010 unpublished opinion as follows: 

16 "An easement owner "may anticipate future needs" and nonuse of the 

17 easement does not by itself constitute abandonment. Neitzel v. 

18 Spokane Int'! Ry. Co., 80 Wash. 30,34, 141 P. 186 (1914). Inorder 

19 to constitute abandonment, the nonuse" 'must be accompanied with 

20 the express or implied intention of abandonment.' " Heg v. Alldredge, 

21 157 Wn.2d 154,161,137 P.3d 9 (2006) (emphasis added, internal 

22 quotation marks omitted) (quoting Netherlands Am. Mortgage Bank v. 

23 E. Ry. & Lumber Co., 142 Wash. 204,210,252 P. 916 (1927)). Acts 

24 evidencing abandonment must be "unequivocal and decisive and 

25 inconsistent with the continued existence of the easement." Heg, 157 

26 Wn.2d at 161. In Heg, the court held that "mere nonuse of a recorded 

13 



1 easement coupled with the use of alternate routes of ingress and 

2 egress does not, by itself, support a finding of abandonment." 157 

3 Wn.2d at 156. 

4 In this case, Pugh provided no evidence of an act by Hume before she 

5 sold the property showing that she intended to abandon the easement. Pugh 

6 offered declaration testimony by himself and Hume that Hume voiced no 

7 objection when modifications to the easement area were made. The Beg case 

8 and subsequent cases show that silence when batTiers are erected is not 

9 enough to infer intent to abandon a recorded easement. In Beg, a road cut 

10 created a 4-6 feet high barrier to use of the easement. p. 162. The servient 

11 owner improved the easement area and incorporated it into their yard. p. 166. 

12 The recorded easement was unused for 44 years. These facts were not 

13 enough to show intent to abandon. 

14 The easement in question was created by dedication and was specified 

15 on the plat drawing for the four lot subdivision. In 1991, the legislature 

16 passed an amendment to the statute of frauds for real estate clarifying that 

17 easements created by dedication can only be extinguished with a written 

18 deed. RCW 64.04.175 provides: 

19 "Easements established by a dedication are propeliy rights that cam10t 

20 be extinguished or altered without the approval of the easement owner 

21 or owners, unless the plat or other document creating the dedicated 

22 easement provides for an alternative method or methods to extinguish 

23 or alter the easement." 

24 RCW 64.04.010 specifies how such easement rights may be extinguished or 

2S altered: 
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1 "Every conveyance of real estate, or any interest therein, and every 

2 contract creating or evidencing any encumbrance upon real estate, 

3 shall be by deed" 

4 RCW 64.04.020 specifies how such deeds may be created: 

5 "Every deed shall be in writing, signed by the party bound thereby, 

6 and acknowledged by the party before some person authorized by this 

7 act to take acknowledgments of deeds ." 

8 In 2004, Pugh created a document to replace the rights of Lot C to use 

9 the 10 feet easement area with a new easement using the other 20 feet of the 

10 width of Tract A. CP 98-102. This document was signed by both parties as 

11 required by RCW 64.04.175 and RCW 64.04.020. If Hume was willing to 

12 abandon her rights to the easement area at that time, Pugh could have 

13 obtained a signed document from Hume and he could have recorded it. Why 

14 did Pugh not ask Hume to sign such a document at that time? After this 

15 lawsuit started in 2012, Pugh persuaded Hume to testify that, in 2004, she 

16 would have agreed that her easement rights were abandoned. Perhaps Pugh 

17 did not ask Hume to sign a document terminating her easement rights in 

18 2004, before she sold the property in 2005, out of fear that she might ask for 

19 compensation. 

20 The court should give meaning to the statute of frauds as expressed in 

21 RCW 64.04 and rule that, just as Pugh created a document to extinguish the 

22 rights of Lot C to use the 10 feet wide easement area, he needed to create a 

23 similar document to extinguish the rights of Lot B to use the easement area if 

24 that is what he wanted to do, and then he should have recorded the document 

25 before Hume sold her property to Haley.

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