20497

No. 70649-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFFREY HALEY,

Appellant,

٧.

JOHN F. PUGH,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Frank R. Siderius WSBA 7759 SIDERIUS LONERGAN & MARTIN, LLP 500 Union Street, Suite 847 Seattle, WA 98101 206/624-2800

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

Previously piped watercourses may be restored by removal of pipes conveying watercourses when the code official determines that the proposal will result in a net improvement of ecological functions and will not significantly increase the threat of erosion, flooding, slope stability or other hazards. (MICC 19.07.070(B)(4); Appendix 1 hereto.) This is the process that Pugh followed in making the watercourse improvements in 2001. Haley proposes to remove any

structure within the easement area including rock structures; trim or remove plantings within the easement area; reshape the land surface within the easement including the placement of a culvert and dirt or decking. (CP 5.) Absent approval, all of the foregoing would violate the Mercer Island Code established buffer zone for the watercourse. (Second Declaration of George Steier; CP 525-535.)

C. Boat Lift Claims are Time-barred as a Matter of Law.

1. Appellant relies upon unsupported facts and conjecture to establish boat lift claims. At pp. 17-20 of the Brief of Appellant, Haley presents facts which are unsupported by evidence and are largely premised on speculation and conjecture. He seeks an order that respondent's boat lift be removed. Haley's First Amended Complaint claimed the boat lift on respondent's dock as well as the boat lift cover violated the SMA, RCW 90.58,230. (CP 1-5.) It appears from the Brief of Appellant that Haley has now abandoned any claim under that statute. Instead, his Boat Lift Sub-Issues at p. 21, Brief of Appellant, states there is no statute of limitations period for his claim of removal; that respondent fraudulently obtained a permit to add the boat lift cover; and respondent made false

representations to the City of Mercer Island and the public which were not discovered until recently and should toll the statute of limitations.

Appellant must establish his claims for fraud and misrepresentation by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. See Baddeley v. Seek, 138 Wn.App. 333, 338-339, 156 P.3d 959 (2007); Steineke v. Russi, 145 Wn.App. 544, 563, 190 P.3d 60 (2008). The factual recitation in the Brief of Appellant at pp. 17-20 is based upon appellant's own declarations which contain purported assertions of fact which are largely based on hearsay, conjecture and speculation. For example, Haley claims respondent placed the boat lift beside his dock in 2001 without first obtaining a permit which Haley states was required by Mercer Island law. (CP 53.) No support for this statement is provided and the declaration of Mercer Island official George Steirer provides documentation of a 2001 permit application. (CP 283-85.) Haley claims that a boat lift cannot be permitted in its present location under Mercer Island ordinances. (CP 53.) No support for this claim is provided. Yet a Shoreline Exemption Permit for the boat lift was granted in 2005. (CP 286-296.)

Haley claims the 2005 boat lift cover permit was granted based upon false statements of respondent. (CP 32-34.) Haley bases his

claim of false statements and incorrect measurements, relying upon his own measurements taken by using a kayak and measuring tape, to verify the incorrectness of respondent's permit application. (CP 53.) Haley fails to explain how incorrect measurements (assuming the measurements are incorrect) would void the Shoreline Exemption Permit granted to Pugh which established the proposed boat lift canopy was exempt from requirements for an environmental impact statement (EIS). (CP 294-296.)

For purposes of a summary judgment motion, the non-moving party is entitled to the benefit of facts and inferences in his favor. Nonetheless, a non-moving party must present competent factual evidence. The foregoing factual recitation by Haley does not overcome the legal authority that his claims are time-barred since the dock and canopy were in existence approximately seven years prior to Haley's lawsuit. He claims the "illegality of the boat lift's location was not evident," until March, 2012. (CP 53-54.) He fails to explain why he was unable to discover the fraud or illegality during those seven years if, in fact, the existence of the boat lift and canopy was a concern.

2. The Boat Lift is Not a Continuing Zoning Law

Violation. At p. 21 of the Brief of Appellant, Haley alleges the boat lift is a "continuing zoning violation" for which there is no statutory limitation period to force removal. Haley alleges a zoning law violation without citing which provision of the zoning code has been violated by the boat lift and canopy. This is not a zoning case. Respondent is unable to address any specific zoning law ordinance of the City of Mercer Island which Haley claims has been violated. In his Motion for Reconsideration, Haley cites the Shoreline Code of Mercer Island, MICC 19.07.110(A). (Appendix 1, pp. 12-40.) He claims he is not seeking damages under the SMA (CP 95). MICC 19.07.110(A) is not a zoning ordinance but rather the local rules and regulations implementing the State Shorelines Management Act, RCW Ch. 90.58. Nonetheless, respondent will address the case law authority cited by appellant.

All cases cited by Haley are readily distinguishable and do not support Haley's theory that no limitation period applies to his causes of action. Haley relies upon *Larsen v. Colton*, 94 Wn.App. 383, 973 P.2d 1066 (1999). In that case, Larsen challenged his neighbor's plan to construct an accessory building. Larsen became specifically

aware that a building permit had been issued on May 6, 1997. Larsen filed a complaint for injunctive relief seven days later. The building permit had apparently issued February 5, 1997. The trial court held the action was timely filed applying a reasonable time standard ruling that Larsen had commenced this lawsuit within a reasonable time after being able to recognize the building's respective size, use and the impact on the neighborhood.

On a motion for reconsideration, the neighbor, for the first time, contended that the 21 day limitation period required by the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), RCW 36.70C.040(2) barred the action. The trial court and the Court of Appeals refused to apply LUPA holding that Larsen lacked standing under LUPA because the town of Colton was not required to consider Larsen's interests in making the land use decision.

Haley ignores the pertinent provisions of the *Larsen* decision relating to the timeliness of the action. The *Larsen* court states at p. 393:

But when, as in this case, the land use decision is a purely ministerial act, the aggrieved person may not have notice or actual knowledge. Indeed, a neighbor's only notice that a building permit has issued may be the beginning of construction. . . A short limitation period

beginning with the issuance of the building permit would not be reasonable.

Actual or constructive knowledge of the building permit thus should be the triggering event for a reasonable limitation period. Here, as the Superior Court found, the Larsens became specifically aware that the building permit had been issued on May 6, 1997. They initiated this action a week later, which certainly was within a reasonable time. The Superior Court did not err in holding this action was timely.

Under the *Larsen* ruling, and any standard of reasonableness, Haley and/or his predecessor in interest, had notice of the boat lift and boat lift canopy no later than 2005. Haley's predecessor in interest, Kathleen Hume, was fully aware that Pugh had installed a boat lift and canopy. (See Declaration of Kathleen Hume, ¶11; CP 59.) Mr. Haley took title to the property from Kathleen Hume in May, 2005. (CP 168-170.) The boat lift and canopy were there to be seen.

In Chelan County v. Nykreim, 146 Wn.2d 904, 52 P.3d 1 (2002), our State Supreme Court distinguished the Larsen decision and clarified at p. 923-924 that Larsen did not negate the appeal limitation rule. Rather, the court in Larsen sought finality in ruling that the commencement of an action contesting a building permit one week after actual or constructive knowledge was within a reasonable time.

Further, the court in *Nykreim*, at p. 931-932, discussed our court's "stringent adherence to statutory time limits." Further, the court stated it has always recognized a strong public policy supporting administrative finality in land use decisions. In fact, if there were not finality in land use decisions, no owner of land would ever be safe in proceeding with development of his property. To make an exception would completely defeat the purpose and policy of the law in making a definite time limit. In this regard the court cited *Skamania County v. Columbia River Gorge Commission*, 144 Wn.2d 30, 49, 26 P.3d 241 (2001).

Considering the finality doctrine and the strong adherence to the 21 day time limit of LUPA, the *Larsen* decision relied upon by Haley is a narrow exception to LUPA's strict time limit. Nonetheless, its holding does not support Haley's contention that there is *no* statutory limitation period to bring an action to force removal of the boat lift and canopy which were approved seven years ago.

Haley also relies upon *Radach v. Gunderson*, 39 Wn.App. 392, 695 P.2d 128 (1985). That reliance is misplaced. The *Radach* decision in 1985 was pre-LUPA. Timeliness of the Radachs' challenge to an illegal structure was not at issue. In fact, the court

stated at p. 400 "the Radachs were not guilty of delay or misconduct, and the injunction can be practicably framed and enforced." Also, the court ultimately ruled that the City of Ocean Shores which had issued the permit for an illegal structure should bear the cost of replacement.

Once again, Haley ignores the time lines in the *Radach* case. In 1977 a building permit issued which violated the zoning code. During that same year, Radach first saw the construction and noticed that the foundation was too close to the ocean. He complained to the City. A month later the City inspector was trying to "work something out" with the contractor. When the City ultimately approved a zoning variance, Radach sued. This case, and the other cases cited by Haley, all involve prompt action by the complaining party.

Haley claims at Brief of Appellant, pp. 8-9, that termination of his easement rights violates the U.S. and State of Washington Constitutions. No authority is cited. He claims property rights cannot be taken without due process. He ignores the public process undertaken by the City of Mercer Island in 2001 approving the watercourse improvement in the easement area (CP 191-282.) and the consent and involvement of Haley's predecessor in interest. (CP 58-60.)

2005 Boat Lift Canopy Permit Including Allegations of Fraud In Obtaining the Permit. Haley attempts to create a factual issue asserting fraud by Pugh in the Development Application submitted to the City of Mercer Island February 18, 2005, more than seven years prior to Haley's lawsuit. The application is found at Attachment D to the Declaration of George Steirer. (CP 286-296.) The application reveals a pre-existing boat lift and seeks approval of a canopy over the boat lift. The exemption permit was approved April 26, 2005.

Haley now asserts that the required distances from adjoining properties are fraudulently stated. While this can readily be refuted by Pugh, for purposes of a summary judgment motion, Pugh recognizes the court must accept Haley's allegations as true. Haley's attempt to lengthen the 3-year statute of limitations relies upon RCW 4.16.080(4) which provides that an action for relief upon the ground of fraud does not accrue "until the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud." Haley claims he did not discover the fraud until March or April, 2012.

Haley's reliance on the so-called "discovery rule" is misplaced.

The statute begins to run in fraud cases when there is discovery by

the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud. However, actual knowledge of the fraud will be inferred if the aggrieved party, by the exercise of due diligence, could have discovered it. *Sanders* v. Sheets, 142 Wash. 155, 252 Pac. 531 (1927).

When an instrument involving real property is properly recorded it becomes notice to all the world of its contents. When the facts upon which the fraud is predicated are contained in a written instrument which is placed in the public record, there is constructive notice of its contents, and the statute of limitations begins to run at the date of the recording of the instrument. *Strong v. Clark*, 56 Wn.2d 230, 352 P.2d 183 (1960).

It is also been held that the statute of limitations for a damage action based on fraud does not commence to run until the aggrieved party discovers, or should have discovered, the fact of fraud by due diligence and sustains some actual damage as a result therefrom. This interpretation prevents the unconscionable result of barring an aggrieved party's right to recovery before a right to judicial relief even arises. See *First Maryland LeaseCorp. v. Rothstein*, 72 Wn.App. 278, 282, 864 P.2d 17 (1993).

In determining whether facts should have been discovered by one exercising reasonable diligence, the defrauded party cannot be heard to say that he has not discovered the facts showing the fraud if the facts should have been discovered prior to that time by anyone exercising a reasonable amount of diligence. See Sanders v. Sheets, supra at p. 128. For the discovery rule to apply, the plaintiff must be on notice of some appreciable harm occasioned by another's wrongful conduct. See Giraud v. Quincy Farm, 102 Wn.App. 443, 6 P.3d 104 (2000). To invoke the discovery rule, the plaintiff must show that he or she could not have discovered the relevant facts earlier. G.W. Constr. Corp. v. Professional Serv. Indus. Inc., 70 Wn.App. 360, 367, 853 P.2d 484 (1993).

Applying the foregoing standards to the case at bar, Haley and his predecessor in interest had actual knowledge of the boat lift and canopy's existence in 2005, as did any of his neighbors. Due diligence would have disclosed the existence of the permit application and Haley could have pursued any claim for fraud in that application within three years. In fact, Haley's predecessor in interest, Kathleen Hume, received notice of the boat lift canopy application and fully consented to this improvement. (CP 59.) Additionally, Haley fails to

show any injury as a result of the installation of the boat lift and canopy. To the extent he claims loss of view or loss of enjoyment of Lake Washington, these claims were well known to him in 2005. Haley cannot claim refuge under the discovery rule by failing to exercise due diligence in discovering his claim seven years ago.

Haley relies upon *Lauer v. Pierce County*, 173 Wn.2d 242, 267 P.3d 988 (2011) for the proposition that a knowing misrepresentation of material fact confers no right upon the permit applicant. However, that case involved a timely LUPA petition filing twenty days after the relevant land use decision. That case has no applicability to the facts before this court.

Haley also cites *Ecology v. Pacesetter Construction*, 89 Wn.2d 203, 571 P.2d 196 (1977). In that case, an action was commenced against defendants approximately 1 month after plans were revealed. Unlike the present action, timeliness of the lawsuit was not an issue.

V. APPELLANT SHOULD BE AWARDED ATTORNEY'S FEES

Haley now claims, contrary to his Amended Complaint, that he is not seeking an award of damages under the SMA. He also disclaims his request for an award of costs and fees under the

Shoreline Management Act contrary to what is specifically set forth in his Amended Complaint. (CP 1-5.)

Haley claims he is now seeking "common law damages for fraud, negligence, damage to property and damage to enjoyment of property." (CP 94.) Yet a simple reading of his First Amended Complaint clearly claims violation of the Shoreline Act at paragraphs 6 through 11. Until the trial court's ruling, Haley's main causes of action have been centered on the Shorelines Management Act, RCW Ch. 90.58.

Pugh should be awarded attorney's fees for that portion of his fees related to the defense of SMA claims pursuant to RCW Ch. 90.58. The fact that Haley now shifts his action to one for unspecified zoning violations and disclaims an award of damages under the SMA does not defeat a claim for attorney's fees.

VI. CONCLUSION

The trial court's rulings should be affirmed. As a matter of law, the easement rights claimed by appellant were abandoned by his predecessor in interest. The City of Mercer Island in 2001 approved a change of use in the easement area to an open watercourse which is inconsistent with the vehicular or pedestrian use.

The challenge to respondent's boat lift and canopy approved by the City of Mercer Island 2005 is time-barred by the applicable 3-year statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080.

Respondent is entitled to an award of attorney's fees for defense of the SMA claims.